RECEIVED

Mar 04 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002086

Reid Fleming, Petitioner,

v.

The Planet Vape, LLC; SCECIGARETTE, LLC; LG Chem
Ltd.; John Doe Distributor #1; John Doe Distributor #2; and
John Doe Distributor #3 Defendants,

Of which LG Chem Ltd. is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

RICHARDSON THOMAS, LLC

Chris Moore (SCB: 77934)
383 W. Cheves Street
Florence, SC 29501
T: 843.307.9509
chris@richardsonthomas.com

Grace B. Sturman (SCB: 105714)
1513 Hampton Street
Columbia, SC 29201
T: 803.281.8150

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding Fleming did not establish a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction over LG Chem for any cause of action where LG does not dispute it placed the battery in the stream of commerce and knew its battery was being sold for this purpose?
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351 (2021), by requiring a causal link between LG's in-state conduct and the battery at issue?
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals' misapplied this Court's decision in *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), by failing to attribute minimum contacts to LG Chem where LG Chem does not dispute significant and regular lithium-ion battery business in South Carolina?
- IV. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to analyze the fairness prong of the due-process test?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's dismissal of a products liability action for lack of specific personal jurisdiction. The action arises from severe injuries sustained by Petitioner Reid Fleming when a lithium-ion battery manufactured by Respondent LG Chem, Ltd. ("LG") exploded in his pocket. Fleming purchased, used, and was injured by the battery in South Carolina. (R. p. 22 ¶ 31.)

On April 21, 2021, Fleming filed his complaint against LG, John Doe Distributors #1-3, and retail sellers The Planet Vape, LLC and SC E-Cigarette, LLC. (R. pp. 17-29.) Fleming asserted causes of action for strict liability, negligence, breach of express and implied warranties, and unfair trade practices. *Id.*

LG moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction on July 15, 2021. (R. pp. 30-39, 46-67.) Fleming filed his memorandum in opposition with exhibits on January 10, 2022. (R. pp. 70-386.) The circuit court held a hearing on January 18, 2022. (R. pp. 537-579.) A hearing on the motion was held on January 18, 2022. (R. p. 537.)

On February 7, 2022, the trial court granted LG's motion. (App. pp.693-703.) Fleming filed a motion to reconsider on February 17, 2022. (R. pp. 417-26). The trial court denied Fleming's motion to reconsider on February 23, 2022. (App. pp.704-706.) Fleming filed a notice of appeal from the trial court's orders on March 21, 2022. (R. p. 1.)

On April 19, 2022, Fleming filed a motion to certify this case to this Court because the trial court's decision was in conflict with five other circuit court orders. This Court denied the unopposed motion on May 17, 2022.

The parties submitted briefs and the Court of Appeals heard argument June 3, 2025. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court in an unpublished, split decision filed August 13, 2025,

from which Judge Hewitt dissented. (App. pp.1-7, Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion No. 2025-UP-295.) Fleming filed his petition for writ of certiorari in this Court October 10, 2025. (App. p.707.) This Court granted certiorari January 13, 2026.

FACTS

LG's lithium-ion batteries are well-known and popular batteries that are extensively used by the vaping community to power vaping devices, or e-cigarettes. (R. p. 21 ¶ 23.) LG claims it does not intend for consumers to use its lithium-ion batteries with such devices; however, LG has known since at least 2016 that its batteries were widely used in vaping devices. (R. p. 21 ¶ 20.) LG's knowledge of this fact was also gained defending numerous, similar lawsuits both in South Carolina and across the country. *See, e.g., Sullivan v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 79 F.4th 651, 670 (6th Cir. 2023); *LG Chem Am., Inc. v. Morgan*, 670 S.W.3d 341, 343–44 (Tex. 2023); *Dilworth v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 355 So. 3d 201, 210–11 (Miss. 2022); *LG Chem, Ltd. v. Lemmerman*, 361 Ga. App. 163, 863 S.E.2d 514 (2021); *Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et. al*, 2019-CP-07-02270 (June 21, 2021), (R. pp. 256-65); *Holtzendorff v. Vapor Tek USA, LLC, and LG Chem Ltd.*, 2018-CP-0201518 (May 6, 2020), (R. pp. 266-67); *Roberts v. Planet Vape, LLC, et. al*, 2020-CP-10-00912 (Dec. 17, 2020), (R. pp. 268-70).

A centerpiece of Fleming's complaint allegations was that his claims relate to LG's forum activities including the manufacture and distribution of lithium-ion batteries through South Carolina ports and to South Carolina companies. (R. p. 19.) Fleming alleged that LG conducted these activities with the express knowledge that businesses were selling, and individuals using, LG's batteries to power vaping devices. *Id.* Fleming alleged that LG was distributing the batteries in South Carolina without adequate warnings despite its express knowledge of how individuals were using them. (R. pp. 23-24.)

Fleming is a South Carolina resident. (R. p. 17.) Fleming alleges he purchased LG's rechargeable lithium-ion batteries from retail stores The Planet Vape, LLC and SC E-Cigarette, LLC in Charleston, South Carolina for use in his vaping device. (R. p. 21 ¶ 20.) On May 24, 2018, one of the LG batteries exploded in his pants pocket, causing severe burns requiring hospitalization, and resulting in permanent physical and mental damage. (R. p. 22 ¶¶ 31–35.) Fleming alleges the batteries were a particular sized lithium-ion battery—size 18650—and were designed, manufactured, and distributed by LG. (R. p. 21 ¶ 22.) All of Fleming's contacts with the product—the purchase, use, and failure of the subject battery—occurred in South Carolina.

LG is a subsidiary of the LG Corporation or LG Group, a South Korean multinational conglomerate. (R. pp.75-76.) At the time of Fleming's injury, LG had a subsidiary, LG Chem America, Inc., which was authorized to do business in South Carolina. (R. pp. 97–99, 244.) Fleming alleged that LG transacts business in South Carolina, including shipping lithium-ion batteries through the Port of Charleston and to South Carolina businesses with the expectation that these products be sold in South Carolina. (R. pp. 18–19 ¶¶ 9-10, 184–242, 243, 292–386.)

In response to LG's motion challenging jurisdiction, Fleming supplied the circuit court with shipping records evidencing large shipments by LG of “lithium-ion” batteries to South Carolina entities. (R. pp. 184–242, 243, 292–386.) LG does not dispute that it serves a market for lithium-ion batteries here or that it shipped 18650 lithium-ion batteries here. Instead, LG is quite careful to say only that it did not place 18650 rechargeable lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina “for use as standalone, replaceable batteries.” *See e.g.* (R. pp. 30-31, 37-38, 46-48, 53, 57, 60-63, 64, 396-98, 410-11, 415-16, 436-41, 443-44 446-47, 456-57). LG does not deny that it placed this type battery into the stream of commerce, that it regularly conducts business (selling

lithium ion batteries) in South Carolina, or even that it distributes this type of battery with the reasonable expectation that it will be used by individuals in South Carolina.

Importantly, Fleming also asserted a cause of action for negligence against LG that is premised upon the breach of LG's duty to take reasonable efforts to warn both its customers and potential individual users or the dangerous risks known to LG arising from the individual handling and use of its 18650 batteries. (R. pp. 19, 25-26.) Fleming alleges LG has breached a duty to both warn and monitor its supply chain in order to protect consumers from what it claims is a misuse of its lithium-ion battery products. (R. pp. 24-28 ¶¶ 49-61.)

LG did not deny that it does business in South Carolina or sells lithium-ion batteries in South Carolina. It did not deny minimum contacts with South Carolina or that it ever sold size 18650 lithium-ion batteries in South Carolina. (R. pp. 46-66.) Instead, LG argued that it did not design, manufacture, distribute, or sell a lithium-ion battery for a discrete use—"for use as standalone, replaceable batteries, in South Carolina." (R. p. 48.) LG argued it manufactured lithium-ion batteries for use as "industrial component parts that are designed to be incorporated into battery packs." (R. pp. 37, 47.) In other words, LG argued there is no specific jurisdiction because its product was misused as a product sold on its own rather than sold already incorporated into another product.

Fleming filed a memorandum and exhibits in opposition to LG's motion, (R. pp. 71-85), that included as exhibits data showing over 900 shipments of LG products into the port of Charleston, South Carolina. (R. pp. 184-243, 292-386.) LG imported 419 shipments of lithium-ion batteries through the port of Charleston, some destined for South Carolina businesses. (R. pp. 243, 292-386.)

Fleming submitted to the lower court, an opinion from the Western District of North Carolina showing that LG purposefully served the consumer electronics market with lithium-ion batteries. (R. pp. 159- 83) *Celgard, LLC v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 3:14-cv-00043, 2015 WL 2412467 *1, 25 (W.D.N.C. May 21, 2015) (stating “Celgard supplied LGC . . . with uncoated base films to be used in the production of lithium-ion batteries *for consumer-electronic* (“CE”) products” and quoting LG as saying an injunction would “strip[] Best Buy and Wal-Mart (with respect to *consumer electronics* products) . . . of their ability to provide products containing these batteries to consumers” (emphasis added)).

Fleming also provided the lower court with five orders from other South Carolina circuit courts denying LG’s motions to dismiss for personal jurisdiction in five other similar lithium-ion battery explosion cases. (R. pp. 19-20 ¶ 11), *see also, Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et. al*, 2019-CP-07-02270 (June 21, 2021), (R. pp. 256-65); *Holtzendorff v. Vapor Tek USA, LLC, and LG Chem Ltd.*, 2018-CP-0201518 (May 6, 2020), (R. pp. 266-67); *Roberts v. Planet Vape, LLC, et. al*, 2020-CP-10-00912 (Dec. 17, 2020), (R. pp. 268-70).

On January 18, 2018, the lower court held a hearing on the motion. (R. p. 537.) LG argued mainly that Fleming must show LG itself imported and sold a size 18650 lithium-ion battery to a consumer retailer in South Carolina. LG explained that 18650 merely describes the size of the battery. It “just means the 18 is the 18 millimeters diameter, the 65 millimeters is the length, zero is cylindrical. So that’s a size.” (R. p. 549, lines 14-16.) The lower court asked LG:

How would your client ever get sued in the United States under your theory that they don’t sell the individual product to an individual but they only sell it to manufacturers who repackage it someplace and then sell it in all the other states?

Basically, they are immune from suit if their product causes harm under your theory.

(R. p. 551.) LG answered that because “nothing that LG Chem is doing to supply to be part of this distribution chain,” it should not expect to be sued by an individual consumer that got the product from a third party. (R. pp. 552-53.)

Fleming argued that he alleges LG’s failure to “actually take command of their distribution chain” constitutes negligence. (R. p. 565.) Fleming argued the consumer use of the battery purchased from a third party is a merits defense of product misuse and not a valid basis to deny specific jurisdiction. (R. p. 566.) Fleming pointed to LG’s numerous shipments of lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina and said LG’s distinction of only the size 18650 battery “would be like . . . drawing a distinction between light cigarettes and ultra light cigarettes.” (R. p. 568.) The point is that Fleming bought and was injured by LG’s battery in South Carolina, and LG intended to serve a South Carolina market with lithium-ion batteries such that it should have expected to be subject to suit here for a claim related to a lithium-ion battery. (R. p. 568-70.)

On February 7, 2022, the trial court entered an order granting LG’s motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 3-13.) The trial court found that Fleming failed to prove that LG imported the specific size 18650 lithium-ion battery into South Carolina for a consumer market. (R. pp. 7-8.) It also held that a stream of commerce theory does not support specific jurisdiction in this case. It found this case factually distinguishable from *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), based on its findings that LG did not distribute the specific size 18650 lithium-ion batteries to South Carolina consumers as a standalone product or to a distributor to supply them to South Carolina consumers as a standalone product. (R. pp. 9-10.)

Finally, the lower court held that, because it found Fleming did not satisfy the power prong, it did not need to address the fairness prong of the jurisdictional analysis. (R. p. 11.) However, the

lower court proceeded to state that it is unfair to find specific jurisdiction in this case because LG's South Carolina contacts are not related to Fleming's claims. (R. p. 11.)

Fleming filed a motion to reconsider principally to challenge the lower court's determination that his proof did not establish LG distributed a specific size lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina, pointing to record evidence that LG made over fifty shipments of lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina and those records do not establish whether the shipments are a size 18650 because they simply say "LITHIUM ION BATTERY." (R. p. 418.) Fleming argued that, regardless of the size, lithium-ion batteries are all similar in design and function, and that the records show LG was conducting significant lithium-ion battery business in South Carolina.

On February 23, 2022, the lower court denied the motion to reconsider without a hearing. (R. pp. 14-16.) That order contains only a standard of review section, which is largely federal law on Rule 59(e), and does not include analysis.

Fleming timely appealed to the Court of Appeals who heard argument June 3, 2025, and filed its unpublished opinion affirming the trial court August 13, 2025.

In the unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals found Fleming "did not plead any jurisdictional facts specific to the particular product at issue here—a 18650 lithium-ion cell that was re-sold as a standalone consumer battery," and that he "did not plead any facts showing a connection between his claims and any action of [LG] directed to South Carolina." (App. pp. 2-3). It further concluded that, even considering the parties' affidavits and Fleming's "voluminous exhibits," "[n]one of the facts" supported jurisdiction, including an asserted lack of evidence "reflecting shipment of 18650 lithium-ion cells to anyone in South Carolina, let alone anyone engaged in the consumer vaping industry." (App. pp.2-3.) The majority accepted, in LG's favor,

its argument that the shipments of other lithium-ion batteries were “unrelated business” and found Fleming could not establish minimum contacts. (App. pp.5–6.)

Judge Hewitt’s dissent concluded the complaint “sufficiently alleges facts that support specific personal jurisdiction.” (App. p.7.) Importantly, the dissent notes that LG “has not denied that it placed this battery in the stream of commerce, that it regularly does business in South Carolina, or even that it distributes this type of battery with the reasonable expectation that the batteries will be used in this way in South Carolina.” *Id.* Fleming thereafter petitioned for rehearing, and that petition was denied by order entered on September 10, 2025. (App. p.8.) This Court granted certiorari January 13, 2026.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case.” *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 496, 676 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 2009). “The circuit court’s decision should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *Id.* at 496, 676 S.E.2d at 717.

ARGUMENT

The conclusion of LG’s argument is that the only forum in which Fleming (or any South Carolina citizen) can seek redress for his permanent burn injuries is in South Korea. LG says this is true despite conceding it conducts substantial business in South Carolina which admittedly includes the sale of lithium-ion batteries. Despite LG’s willful and purposeful avilment of the South Carolina business market, LG contends our courts cannot exercise jurisdiction over it for claims involving its product when that product was not sold for the specific use for which LG knows it is being both sold and put by countless consumers.

That is a classic misuse defense, not a jurisdictional inquiry. Specific personal jurisdiction does not require “proof of causation – i.e., proof that the plaintiff’s claim came about because of the defendant’s in-state conduct.” *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351, 362 (2021). LG’s “different market” argument “is too narrow a framing, and one disguising the rejected causation analysis” from *Ford*. *Sullivan v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 79 F.4th 651, 672 (6th Cir. 2023).

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals erred in accepting LG’s unfounded argument that specific jurisdiction in a product liability action exists only where the specific product model size is sold in the forum state by the manufacturer **and** used in the exact manner intended by the manufacturer. There is no federal or state precedent that supports such a narrow interpretation of specific personal jurisdiction.

Both the lower court and Court of Appeals disregarded Fleming’s negligence claim against LG stemming from the alleged breach of its duty to warn its customers and consumers of the dangers associated with the individual use of its lithium ion batteries. Fleming used the battery for the purpose for which it was sold to him and for which LG allegedly knew retailers were selling and consumers were using its lithium-ion batteries.

South Carolina “traditionally” used “a two-step analysis to determine whether specific jurisdiction is proper by 1) determining if the long arm statute applies and 2) determining whether the nonresident’s contacts in South Carolina are sufficient to satisfy due process requirements.” *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 498-99, 676 S.E.2d 714, 718-19 (Ct. App. 2009). “However, a more recent trend compresses the analysis into a due process assessment only.” *Id.* at 499, 676 S.E.2d at 719. Therefore, the statutory and constitutional requirements are met in South Carolina when the exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with due process.

The due process standard “requires a defendant possess minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.” *Id.* at 499, 676 S.E.2d at 719. To determine whether this standard is satisfied, “[t]he court must (1) find that the defendant has the requisite minimum contacts with the forum, without which, the court does not have the power to adjudicate the action and (2) find the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable or fair.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). These are referred to as the power and fairness prongs.

Under the power prong, the “minimum contacts analysis requires a court to find that the defendant directed its activities to residents of South Carolina and that the cause of action arises out of or relates to those activities.” *Power Prods. & Servs. Co. v. Kozma*, 379 S.C. 423, 432, 665 S.E.2d 660, 665 (Ct. App. 2008). The defendant must “purposefully avail[] itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws.” *Id.* at 432, 665 S.E.2d at 665. This “‘purposeful availment’ requirement ensures that a defendant will not be haled into a jurisdiction solely as a result of random, fortuitous, or attenuated contacts.” *Id.*

Under the fairness prong, the court considers “the following factors: (1) the duration of the defendant’s activity in this State; (2) the character and circumstances of its acts; (3) the inconvenience to the parties; and (4) the State’s interest in exercising jurisdiction.” *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 500, 676 S.E.2d at 719. Because Fleming satisfied both prongs of the due process analysis, this Court should reverse.

I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding Fleming Failed to Establish a Prima Facie Showing of Specific Jurisdiction Over LG.

As observed by Judge Hewitt:

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