RECEIVED

Apr 23 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002086

Reid Fleming..... Petitioner,

v.

The Planet Vape, LLC; SCECIGARETTE, LLC; LG
Chem, Ltd.; John Doe Distributor #1; John Doe
Distributor #2; and John Doe Distributor #3 Defendants,

Of which LG Chem, Ltd. is the..... Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Mitchell Brown
Rachel Atkin Hedley
A. Mattison Bogan
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street/17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

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

III. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court’s conclusion that personal jurisdiction is lacking regardless of whether *Sumatra* remains viable.

A. *Sumatra* does not stand for the proposition that a manufacturer is subject to jurisdiction in any forum where its product may be found.

Petitioner argues that, under *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), allegations that a defendant manufactured a product outside the state and expected that its products would be distributed in South Carolina are sufficient to support the exercise of jurisdiction “regardless of how [the product] arrived in South Carolina[.]” (*See* Pet. Br. at 16.)

As the Court of Appeals correctly found, Petitioner’s interpretation of *Sumatra* is incorrect, because that interpretation does not follow from *Sumatra* and would read *Sumatra* in a way that is inconsistent with U.S. Supreme Court precedents.

The U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that alleged awareness of third-party actions is legally insufficient to support the exercise of specific jurisdiction. Instead, “it is the defendant’s actions, not his expectations, that empower a State’s courts to subject him to judgment.” *J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro*, 564 U.S. 873, 883 (2011) (plurality op.); *Ford*, 592 U.S. at 359 (the relevant “contacts must be the defendant’s own choice”); *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980) (“[T]he foreseeability that is critical to due process analysis is not the mere likelihood that a product will find its way into the forum State. Rather, it is that the defendant’s conduct and connection with the forum State are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there.”).

Consistent with those precedents, in *Sumatra*, this Court recognized that “[t]he foreseeability that is critical to due process analysis is not the mere likelihood that a product will find its way into the forum state. Rather, it is that the defendant’s conduct and connection with the

forum state are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there.” 379 S.C. at 89, 666 S.E.2d at 222 (emphasis added).

This Court concluded this standard was met in *Sumatra* in light of the volume of cigarettes the defendant admittedly distributed for sale to consumers throughout the United States, including 7 million cigarettes to consumers in South Carolina. In other words, *Sumatra* does not stand for the proposition that there was jurisdiction over the defendant because it manufactured cigarettes and could foresee that an unauthorized third party would distribute those cigarettes in South Carolina. To the contrary, *Sumatra* stands for the proposition that there was jurisdiction over the defendant because it placed its product into the stream of commerce and intended the product to reach South Carolina consumers through its chain of distribution.

But here, LG Chem denies that it distributed any 18650 battery cells to anyone for sale as a standalone product to consumers in South Carolina—or anywhere else. Here, it is undisputed that the particular 18650 lithium-ion cell at issue in this case (if LG Chem even manufactured it, which was never established) arrived in South Carolina through the unilateral actions of third parties. More to the point, here, *it is also undisputed* that any 18650 lithium-ion cell purchased by a South Carolina consumer from a vape retailer arrived in South Carolina through an unauthorized and unintended chain of distribution.

That is not a merits-based product misuse defense. It is about the chain of distribution that brought LG 18650 cells to consumers in South Carolina. Third parties severed the chain of distribution, removing the cells from the “stream of commerce” and bringing them into the state without LG Chem’s authorization.

And despite Petitioner’s argument that LG Chem’s subsidiary (LGCAI) distributed batteries in South Carolina, Petitioner did not make any such allegations in the Complaint and did

not offer any evidence to support the statement – which is simply untrue. (See App’x 295-354 (59-page chart of shipments consigned by LGCAI, not a single one of which involved batteries); App’x 527, ¶ 10 (affidavit of LGCAI employee filed in the *Williamson* case).)

Petitioner’s expansive interpretation of *Sumatra* would effectively eliminate the protections of due process for a foreign manufacturer, because a plaintiff could meet his burden of proving jurisdiction by simply alleging – in conclusory fashion and without supporting evidence – that a foreign manufacturer placed its products into the stream of commerce and expected the products would make their way to South Carolina. That is not the law.

B. This case does not present the opportunity to revisit the viability of stream of commerce jurisdiction in product liability cases.

There has not been another South Carolina appellate decision that addressed the stream-of-commerce doctrine as applied to minimum contacts since *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666, S.E.2d 218 (2008) was decided eighteen years ago.

Some courts have questioned whether the “stream of commerce” analogy remains a viable theory of personal jurisdiction in products liability cases after the U.S. Supreme Court’s decisions in *J. McIntyre, Bristol-Myers*, and *Ford*, including in another case with similar facts to *Sumatra*. *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 403 S.W.3d 726, 765 (Tenn. 2012) (recognizing that “[i]f New Jersey lacked personal jurisdiction over J. McIntyre Machinery, which vigorously and directly targeted American markets, including New Jersey, then Tennessee surely lacks jurisdiction over NV Sumatra”); see e.g., *Shuker v. Smith & Nephew, PLC*, 885 F.3d 760, 780 (3d Cir. 2018).

Even before *Bristol-Myers* and *Ford*, the Fourth Circuit has long rejected an unadorned “stream of commerce” theory as a basis to support the exercise of specific jurisdiction. See, e.g., *Fed. Ins. Co. v. Lake Shore, Inc.*, 886 F.2d 654, 659 (4th Cir. 1989) (rejecting approach that relied

“on an unadorned ‘stream of commerce’ theory to justify the assertion of personal jurisdiction over defendants”); *Grizzard v. LG Chem Ltd.*, 641 F. Supp. 3d 282, 292 (E.D. Va. 2022) (“[T]his court has made clear that a ‘defendant’s introduction of its product into the stream of commerce. . . is, by itself, an insufficient basis for personal jurisdiction.’ ”) (citations omitted).

Petitioner’s own case (*Celgard*), which he describes as showing that “LG purposefully served the consumer electronics market with lithium-ion batteries” (Pet. Br. at 6) expressly held that “stream of commerce” was not a basis to hold LG Chem subject to personal jurisdiction. *See Celgard, LLC v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, No. 3:14-cv-00043-MOC-DCK, 2015 WL 2412467 (W.D. N.C. May 21, 2015), at *24–25.⁹ (App’x 287–289.)

This case does not present the right vehicle, however, to decide whether “stream of commerce” remains a viable theory of personal jurisdiction. The “stream of commerce” analogy applies to the first prong of the due process analysis – purposeful availment – whereas this case was decided based upon failure to meet the second prong – relatedness.

In addition, the “stream of commerce” has been described as referring “not to unpredictable currents or eddies, but to the regular and anticipated flow of products from manufacture to distribution to retail sale.” *Asahi Metal Indus. Co. v. Superior Ct. of California, Solano Cnty.*, 480 U.S. 102, 117 (1987) (Brennan, J., concurring in part).

In typical product liability cases where the stream of commerce is raised, the product arrives in the state through the manufacturer’s chain of distribution, and the question then becomes

⁹ *Celgard* was a patent infringement action decided over a decade ago, in which the court found that jurisdiction could be exercised over LG Chem based on a 7-year contractual relationship with a North Carolina entity for the supply of material for a licensed “separator” used in the manufacture of batteries for electronic devices and electric vehicles. *See* 2015 WL 2412467, at *19–21. The case had nothing whatsoever to do with consumer product liability claims or supply of 18650 lithium-ion battery cells to consumers as standalone, replaceable batteries.

(as in *Sumatra*) whether the manufacturer intended for its product to be sold to consumers in the state through a series of intermediaries.

Here, Petitioner’s own allegations and the undisputed evidence in the record answer that question decisively: LG Chem did not place its 18650 lithium-ion battery cells into the “stream of commerce” to be sold as a standalone product to consumers in South Carolina. Quite the contrary, LG Chem specifically *prohibited* anyone from selling its 18650 cells to consumers as a standalone product. This is not an unbroken chain from manufacturer to distribution to retail sale. To the contrary, this is a classic example of a distribution chain of “unpredictable currents or eddies” to which the stream of commerce does not apply. *See, e.g., Matter of Am. River Transp. Co. (ARTCO)*, 2022 WL 17325899, at *7 (“LG Chem emphasizes that its batteries were intercepted and re-sold for an unauthorized use, and that when it learned of unauthorized distribution to consumers, it attempted to stamp it out, sending cease and desist letters, including to the distributor that supplied the Louisiana retailer in this case.”).

It would be legal error to find that due process was satisfied on these facts, and if *Sumatra* led to that result, it could not be reconciled with federal constitutional law.

But *Sumatra* does *not* compel that result, as discussed above, leaving the question for another day whether this Court’s formulation of “stream of commerce” jurisdiction as set forth in *Sumatra* continues to be a viable legal theory.¹⁰

¹⁰ That other South Carolina circuit courts reached a different conclusion does not support Petitioner’s position. Even the most cursory review of those other decisions immediately reveals that each court gave different reasons for its decision (and two of the courts gave no reasons at all), including that three of those other courts found personal jurisdiction could fairly be exercised over both LG Chem and its subsidiary LGCAI, despite uncontroverted evidence that LGCAI did not manufacture battery cells (or any products) and did not sell a single battery (any type) to anyone in South Carolina. (App’x 367–376.)

IV. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court’s conclusion that Petitioner’s failure to meet his burden of proof on the power prong analysis required dismissal.

A. Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof on the power prong.

Petitioner bears the burden of proving personal jurisdiction. *Power Prods. & Servs. Co., Inc. v. Kozma*, 379 S.C. 423, 430, 665 S.E.2d 660, 664 (Ct. App. 2008). Despite this well-established principle, Petitioner repeatedly attempts to shift this burden of proof to LG Chem. The main theme running through Petitioner’s Brief is that LG Chem did not deny shipping extensive quantities (dozens or even hundreds of shipments) of lithium-ion batteries, 18650 lithium-ion cells even, into South Carolina. Petitioner argues that is enough under *Ford*.

This argument fails for many reasons. *First*, Petitioner never alleged that LG Chem extensively shipped 18650 lithium-ion battery cells to South Carolina. Petitioner generically alleged in conclusory fashion that LG Chem did lithium-ion battery related business in the state. *Second*, Petitioner never offered any extrinsic evidence showing that LG Chem extensively shipped 18650 lithium-ion cells to South Carolina. Petitioner filed hundreds of pages of inadmissible import charts but did not point to any evidence supporting his arguments about LG Chem’s battery-related business, which he said was conducted either directly or through its subsidiary (LGCAI). LG Chem showed that Petitioner’s own exhibits supported only that LG Chem had made one pre-incident shipment of any type of lithium-ion battery cell—a non-18650 that went to a car manufacturer in Ridgeville and that its subsidiary (an independent company) did not distribute or sell batteries to anyone in the state. *Third*, Petitioner offered nothing to contradict LG Chem’s evidence that it never sold designed, manufactured, distributed, advertised, or sold 18650 lithium-ion battery cells for sale to or use by consumers as a standalone product and never authorized anyone else to do so, either. Petitioner argued only that it did not matter. But under the

authorities discussed herein, including *Ford*, it *does* matter, as the circuit court and Court of Appeals correctly found, and as more than a dozen other courts have likewise agreed.

Based upon Petitioner's failure to plead or prove any facts to meet his burden of establishing that his claims arose out of or relate to contacts formed by LG Chem with South Carolina, as due process requires, the circuit court and Court of Appeals were correct to dismiss LG Chem from the suit.

B. Petitioner waived jurisdictional discovery.

To the extent Petitioner may attempt to argue in his reply brief that he should have the opportunity to conduct jurisdictional discovery before dismissal is affirmed, that argument should be rejected.

First, Petitioner has long-since waived jurisdictional discovery. The issue was not raised in Petitioner's Initial Brief, and any argument not raised or argued in an initial brief is abandoned. *See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[E]ven though [the appellant] more fully addressed the issue in its reply brief, an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief. Accordingly, we find that [the appellant's] argument was not properly presented to this Court and is deemed abandoned.”) (internal citations omitted); *Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 272, 277, 437 S.E.2d 168, 171 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[T]hese arguments are not properly before this Court because an appellant cannot make new arguments for reversal in a reply brief.”) (citation omitted); *see also State v. Hewins*, 409 S.C. 93, 118 n.9, 760 S.E.2d 814, 827 n.9 (2014) (Pleicones, J., concurring) (same). That waiver is not limited to Petitioner's Initial Brief: Petitioner did not request jurisdictional discovery in the Court of Appeals and did not seek such relief in his Petition to this Court. (App'x 72–73.)

Second, and consistent with that appellate waiver, Petitioner did not request jurisdictional discovery before the circuit court ruled on LG Chem’s motion to dismiss. Petitioner first requested jurisdictional discovery after the circuit court ruled on this motion to dismiss, which the circuit court denied noting “a motion for reconsideration is not a vehicle . . . ‘to raise argument or present evidence that could have been presented prior to the entry of judgment.’” (App’x 125) (citing *Dash v. Mayweather*, No. C/A 3:10-1036-JFA, 2010 WL 3606829, at *1 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2010) (quoting *Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker*, 554 U.S. 471, n.5 (2008) (alterations added))); *see also* *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (finding that party’s failure to raise an alternate remedy was not preserved because it was first raised in a Rule 59 motion); *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 566–67, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (finding that it was error for the court of appeals to consider an argument that was improperly raised for the first time in a Rule 59(e) motion to amend judgment after trial court granted partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff); *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). Therefore, in addition to Petitioner’s waiver on appeal by failing to raise this issue before the Court of Appeals or in his Initial Brief before this Court, Petitioner had previously waived any request for jurisdictional discovery by failing to raise it until after the circuit court had already granted the motion to dismiss.

Third, even if Petitioner had timely raised a request for jurisdictional discovery or preserved the issue for appeal (which he did not), the circuit court would have been correct and well within its discretion to deny any such request. Petitioner failed to explain why the belated jurisdictional discovery he sought, in a single sentence at the end of his motion to reconsider, was

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